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BE IT REMEMBERED that pursuant to notice
the deposition of HOWARD PITLUK, M.D., was taken at
the offices of Howard Pitluk, M.D., 1925 w. Orange
Grove, #101, in the City of Tucson, County of Pima,
State of Arizona, before Sherri K. Williamson, a
Notary Public in and for the State of Arizona, on
the 10th day of September, 1997, commencing at the
hour of 9:35 a.m. on said day, In a certain cause
now pending in the Court of Common Pleas, Cuyahoga

County, Ohio.
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(Exhibits 1 and 2A through 2L previously

marked for i1dentification.)

HOWARD PITLUK, M.D.,
having been fTirst duly sworn to state the truth, the
whole truth, and nothing but the truth, testified on

his oath as follows:

MR. BONEZZI: Let the record show that
this is the deposition of Howard Pitluk, M.D., taken
for purposes of preserving his testimony for an
upcoming trial presently scheduled for

September 23rd, 1997.

EXAMINATION
BY MrR. BONEZZI:
Q. Would you state your full and complete
name, please?
A. Howard Charles Pitluk.
Q. And your address, sir?
A. My business address i1s 1925 West Orange

Grove, Tucson, Arizona.
Q. Do you have a profession?
A. Yes, Sir.

Q. What is it?
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A. I'm a general surgeon and a vascular
surgeon, both.

Q. Doctor, would you be kind enough to
provide us a little bit of insight relative to your

educational background commencing with undergraduate

school and bringing -- bringing us right up to the
present?
A. I did my undergraduate at Northwestern

University in Evanston, Illinois, receiving my
bachelor®s degree in 1971. 1 then went to the Ohio
State University College of Medicine where |1
obtained my M.D. degree in 1974. And from there 1
went to the Northwestern University Medical Center
in Chicago, 1llinois, where 1 did a general surgical
residency for Ffive years, finishing In 1979.

Q. And since that period of time, have you
furthered your education by attending courses,
et cetera?

A. Yes. Many, many times.

Q. Now, you indicated just a moment ago that
you are both a general surgeon and a vascular
surgeon. Please explain to us the difference, if
there 1i1s any.

A. Well, all vascular surgeons have to be

general surgeons Ffirst. General surgery is the
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discipline or the specialty whereby you take special
training to learn how to perform operations on the
body, usually confined to the abdomen, sometimes to
the extremities and to the neck. The chest is
usually excluded i1n general surgical practices.

Then you do additional training or during
the course of your general surgical training you
take extra courses that allows you to operate on the
vascular tree, primarily the arteries of the body,
so that one can perform surgery iIf these arteries
become diseased.

Not every general surgeon does vascular
surgeon -- does vascular surgery, and not every
vascular surgeon does general surgery. |1 do both.

Q. And, Dr. Pitluk, can you tell us
approximately how much time you spend actually
performing duties relative to vascular surgery as
opposed to general surgery?

A. My practice is devoted primarily -- can
be divided iInto general and vascular surgery
approximately so/so.

Q. Now, speaking of vascular surgery for a
moment, are you familiar with doing bypass grafting
of vessels?

A. Yes.
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What is that, please, as it relates
specifically to vascular surgery?

A. When you have a vessel that becomes
occluded or severely diseased, very often you need
to bring blood flow down to below where the
occlusion takes place. That®"s the term "bypass."

We do this 1n arteries of a leg,
primarily. Also, however, In arteries of the
abdomen, such as the aorta, where one brings a
conduit or a graft or depending, If 1t"s a regular
vessel or a synthetic vessel, from an area where
there i1s good blood flow around an area of occlusion
or obstruction to an area where the blood flow can
be reestablished. Thus, the term "bypass."

Q. Have you 1n your practice performed any

procedures on the superficial femoral artery --

A. Many times.

Q. -- or popliteal --

A. I'm SOrry.

Q- -- or tibial?

A Yes to all three.

Q. And just for general purposes, would you

explain to the ladies and gentlemen of the jury
where the SFA, or superficial femoral artery,

popliteal, or tibial artery are located, please?
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A. The superficial femoral artery is the
artery in the thigh, and it starts below the groin
crease and continues on down to the knee joint.

At that point, the same artery 1Is renamed
the popliteal artery. The artery continues below
the knee joint into the lower leg, and vessels --
three vessels actually come off of this one vessel,

and these are the tibial vessels.

Q. Is that known as the trifurcation?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. Let's go back for a moment to --

to your background. You are familiar with the term
"board certification," are you not?

AL Yes, | am.

Q. And could you tell us what that 1is,
please? And, most importantly, tell us whether or
not you"re board certified in your area of
specialty.

A. Yes. Board certification applies to a --
a rigorous examination given after one finishes an

accredited surgical residency program or any

residency program -- 1"mgoing to speak to surgical
board certification at the moment -- and after one
completes his residency, takes an -- both a written

o

and an oral examination, which then is sanctioned by
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10

a governing board called the American Board of
Surgery.

Once this is done, you are board
certified to perform your specialty with a high
level of expertise. And i1n my particular case, | am
board certified and, in addition, | have taken a --
a second examination ten years after my first -- or
approximately ten years after my Ffirst where | am
now recertified as well.

Q. And that recertification occurs what?
Every ten years?

A. Approximately every ten years, correct.

Q. Dr. Pitluk, you are licensed to practice
your specialty, are you not?

A. Yes.

Q. What state or states are you licensed to
practice iIn?

A. I am licensed to practice in Ohio, 1in
Arizona, and in California.

Q. And -- Excuse me. Can you tell us
approximately how much of your professional --
professional time is spent in the active practice of
medicine, clinical practice of medicine?

A Essentially, 99 percent of it.

Q. Are you a member of any organization or
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organizations relative to your field of specialty?
And, 1f so, what?

A Yes. | am a member of the American Board
of Surgery. 1'm a fellow of the American College of
Surgeons. | am the past President of the Cleveland
Vascular Surgical Society. 1 am the -- a member of
the Society for Clinical Vascular Surgery. 1 am a
past member of their executive committee. | am a
member of the American Medical -- of the County
Medical Association and the Local Medical
Association. | believe -- I1'm also a member of the
Midwestern Vascular Surgical Society, and | believe
that"s pretty current.

Q. Dr. Pitluk, we are presently at your

office 1n Tucson, Arizona; i1s that correct?

AL Correct.

Q. How long have you been here?

A. Two years.

Q And from -- Where did you come from?
A I came from Cleveland, Ohio.

Q. And did you practice medicine in
Cleveland?

A. Yes, 1 did.

Q. For how long did you practice medicine 1in

Cleveland?
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A I practiced from 1979 until August of
1995.

Q. You are currently privileged to practice
your specialty iIn this area, are you not?

A. I think I am, yes.

Q. And as far as privileges at different
institutions, can you tell us what institution or
institutions you have privileges at?

A. Yes. | am currently on the active staff
of Northwest Medical Center, which i1s a hospital
here in Tucson. |1 am also on the active staff of
the Tucson Medical Center, and | have courtesy
privileges at st. Mary®"s Hospital here i1n Tucson.

Q. When you were in Cleveland, did you have
privileges to practice your field of specialty?

A. Yes, | did.

Q. Where?

A. I was on the staff of the Hillcrest
Hospital of Cleveland. | was on the staff of the
Mount Sinai Hospital of Cleveland, the -- the staff
of parma Community Hospital, the staff of
st. Mary -- Marymount Hospital, and 1 was on the
teaching staff with a clinical appointment at the
University Medical Center. That"s Case Western

Reserve University, where | was an Assistant
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Clinical Professor of Surgery and taught at the
Veterans Administration Hospital.

Q. pr. Pitluk, in your practice either as a
general surgeon or in the field of vascular surgery,
have you become familiar with the term "balloon

angioplasties"?

A. Yes.

Q. And tell us what that is, please.

A. A balloon angioplasty i1s, basically, a
procedure whereby if you have a -- an occlusion or a

severe narrowing of an artery, a balloon device 1is
passed through the skin iInto the artery under Xx-ray
control, and the balloon is inflated In the area of
narrowing or occlusion to dilate this -- open up
this area.

Q. And can you tell us what area of
specialty or what, 1 guess, service performs balloon
angioplasties?

A. Basically, there are three different
specialties that perform this procedure. Radiology
Is one. A vascular surgeon is another. And
cardiology i1s the third.

Q. So, in other words, it"s your
understanding that vascular surgeons do, indeed,

perform balloon angioplasties; is that correct?
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a problem. And, moreover, he really i1s the person
who makes the decision i1f a balloon angioplasty
needs to be performed.

Q. Are you familiar, Dr. Pitluk, with the
indications for. performing balloon angioplasties for
the superficial femoral artery?

A Yes.

Q. Before we get into this case, there®s
some terms | want to discuss very briefly. Are you

familiar with the term "ABI" Or "Ankle/Brachial

Index" ?
AL Yes.
Q. What i1s 1t?
A. The Ankle/Brachial Index iIs a number that

iIs derived by doing what is called a noninvasive
study, sometimes referred to as a Doppler study,
whereby one measures the blood pressure -- the
systolic blood pressure iIn the ankle of the
individual, and, usually, 1t"s either the posterior
tibial or the dorsalis pedis blood pressure -- it
means they"re arteries at the ankle level -- and
takes that number and compares it to the systolic
blood pressure in the arm, which is your normal
blood pressure.

A ratio i1s derived, and that ratio should

-
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be one. In other words, the blood pressure in your
ankle should be the same as the blood pressure 1in
your arm. If there®s a deviation below one, this
number gives you an indication as to degree of
vascular occlusion in the leg.

Q. Are you familiar with a PVR study? And,
if so, tell us what 1t 1s and what the initials
"pV," as in Victor, "R" represent.

A. Yes. A PVR 1is called a Pulse Volume
Recording, and, essentially, this is a tracing of
the blood flow to the extremity, which 1is
corroborated and can correlate very well with the
actual amount of blood getting iInto the extremity.

The pulse and volume are directly
proportional according to the resistance, according
to a law of physics, basically, and the tracing will
tell you what volume of blood i1s getting into an
area. Obviously, if there®"s blockage of the flow
into that area, the volume will be decreased, as one
would expect.

And so looking at these tracings, one can
get a reasonably good idea as to the amount of blood
getting to an area. And then combining that with
the information obtained from the ABI, or the

Ankle/Brachial Index, one has a reasonably good
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assessment as to the blood flow to a particular
area.

Q. Are you familiar with the term
"claudication"? And, 1f so, what i1s 1t?

A. Yes. Claudication, in this particular
instance, refers to -- actually, the term is
"vascular Intermittent claudication." That"s the
proper -- That®"s the full name. And claudication 1is
pain produced with walking in a -- in a leg, usually
in the calf, which stops when one stops walking and
then is reproduced when one walks the same distance.

Q. To what extent, if at all, can a
physician obtain information from either a PVR study
or an ankle/Brachial Index study to determine
whether or not there i1s any type of stenosis or
narrowing of any of the vessels i1In the lower
extremities?

A. Well, as | i1ndicated, 1t"s a very good
way to determine the -- the amount of claud -- of
occlusion iIn -- in the areas iIn question.

Q. Can you tell us whether or not there 1is
an association or a relationship relative to the ~.
numbers of a PVR or aBI study and claudication?

A. Yes. There are numbers that determine

some criterion. As | stated before, one or slightly
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less than one, .39, i1s the number which i1ndicates an
essentially normal arterial tree.

When you get below that, we begin seeing
claudication, and, usually, significant claudication
occurs at approximately .75. Below .75, the lower
you go, the more the claudication, the shorter the
distance one must walk before the pain occurs.

When you get to a level of
approximately .4 or 5 -- you usually will not heal a
below the knee amputation if you®"re much below
that, .4 to .45. At approximately .25, one begins
to see ischemic what we call rest pain, which means
that at night, when the extremity is elevated,
because one loses even the small amount of blood
flow that gravity provides when the foot i1s on the
floor, pain occurs, requiring the individual to put
their foot on the floor most -- most of the time
during the evening. And then at below .2, we
actually start seeing tissue changes, such as
gangrene.

Q. Dr. Pitfuk, at my request, did you review
certain records i1n this case involving Mrs. Paino's
involvement with Dr. Sawkar and a subsequent
hospitalization at Fairview General Hospital where

certain surgical procedures occurred?
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A. Yes, I did.

Q. And can you tell us whether or not the
material that | provided to you, which I believe
included deposition testimony and reports from
various individuals, provided you sufficient
information in which you were capable of forming
opinions or drawing conclusions relative to the care
that was provided to Mrs. Paino by Dr. Sawkar?

A. Yes. | was able to.

Q. And can you tell us whether or not the
information that | gave to you enabled you to
determine whether or not, first of all, Dr. Sawkar
met the acceptable standards of care for a vascular
surgeon - -

AL Yes.

Q. .. and, secondly, whether or not he
actually met the standard of care?

A. Yes on both accounts. 1 felt that there
was information sufficient to obtain an opinion, and

the opinion is that he did meet that care.

by

Q. Can you also tell us whether or not, in
your review of records that | provided, one of the
documents included Dr. Sawkar®s actual office
records?

A. Correct.
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Q. And within the office records and the
other records that 1 provided, can you tell us
whether or not you were able to review and did you
review the interpretation from the PVR studies and,
also, the aAnkle/Brachial Index studies that were
carried out?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Did you also review the arteriogram that
demonstrated whether there was stenosis in any of
the vessels of the lower extremity or occlusions in
the vessels of the lower extremity on both the right
and the left side?

A. Yes. | reviewed the reports of the
arteriogram.

MR. BONEZZI: Okay. May we go off the
record, please?

MR. HAWAL: Certainly. |I"m sorry.

(A discussion was held off the record.)

Q. Wwe're back on the record. Dr. Pitluk, 1
handed to you, by way of Mr. Hawal, at the break two
documents that are part and parcel of the Fairview
General records that will encompass a period of time
between, | believe, February 8th -- i1n fact,
it"ll -- the one document will take you back to

January 30th of 1995, and the other one is a
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subsequent document, | think, February 8th of 1995.
Would you tell us what those two
documents represent, please, using the dates on each
of those, please? The one on the left first.
A. The one on the left i1s dated 01/30/95,

and it 1s a resting PVR study interpretation. And

this was --

Q. And the one on the --

AL I'm sorry.

Q. I'm -- Go ahead. 1 apologize.

A. It was -- It was dictated by Dr. Sawkar,
and the date of -- the date of dictation was
02/03/95.

Q. Excuse me. And the one to the right of
that?

A The one to the right is labeled "Fairview

General Hospital Vascular Lab," and 1t"s a lower
arterial study. The date on this i1s also 01/30/95.

Q. And what does that represent?

A. And this represents the actual
Ankle/Brachial Indeces obtained both at rest as well
as after exercise with a -- a time and a grade,
which is the degree of inclination the patient was
walking upon when the study was performed.

Q. And can you tell -- excuse me -- can you
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tell us whether or not -- excuse me -- on the study,
the as1 study, i1If there are numbers or indicators
relative to a study done at rest and then a study
that was done by way of exercise?

A. Yes, there are.

Q. Well, first of all, explain to us what
the difference i1s, if there i1s one, between the
value that one receives iIn a test such as this
relative to rnumbers at rest as opposed to the
numbers obtained following or during exercise,

A. The numbers at rest give you a baseline
as to the amount of blood flow getting to an
extremity when it iIs at rest; i1n other words, when
one is standing still or sitting down or lying
down. That number is a value because it does give
you the baseline.

However, when one walks, the -- if the
numbers decrease, that is telling you that there is
a significant narrowing or occlusion iIn the artery
that does not allow sufficient blood to get to the
extremity that i1s being measured and pain 1is
produced.

One must understand that blood i1s the
carrier of oxygen. Oxygen is food for the muscle.

And so when you walk and you develop pain, that"s
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because you"re not getting enough oxygen via blood
to the muscle. And the only reason that occurs in
these situations i1s when there are significant
narrowings in the blood vessel.

So even though your number at rest may be
as -- an adequate level, when you start walking and
the number drops, that corroborates the -- the fact
that you are developing claudication, and the lower
the number drops, the more significant the
claudication.

Q. To what extent, 1f at all, would a
balloon angioplasty be an appropriate procedure to
perform on behalf of an individual who, iIndeed, has
either stenosis of certain vessels or evidence of

claudication by way of those records?

A. It"s very often the preferred method.

Q. Why 1i1s it preferred?

A. Because 1t"s much less invasive insofar
as the patient is concerned. 1It"s a needle stick
versus a -- a -- an actual iIncision or an operation,

does not require a general anesthetic, and when it
can be performed successfully, it just allows the
patient to be, basically, cured Immediately with
very little morbidity, very little hospital stay,

very little discomfort afterwards, very little
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recovery, and i1t would give you the same result,
which 1s increased blood flow to the area 1in
question.

Q. Did the records that |1 provided to you
set forth any history relative to Mrs. Paino"s

underlying clinical condition --

A. Yes.

Q. -- prior to these studies?

A. Yes, they did.

Q. To what extent were you able to derive
information relative -- relative to her cardiac
status?

A. To a great extent.

Q. And can you tell us to what extent, if at

all, a physician such as yourself takes into
consideration the underlying clinical status of a
patient when determining what type of procedure may
be best for that patient relative to, for instance,
stenosis of vessels of the lower extremity?

A. As a vascular surgeon, we operate upon
elderly individuals all the time. 1t"s Iimportant to
understand that we®re not just operating on a leg or
on a neck; we"re operating on a person. And so a --
a trained vascular surgeon, as any good physician,

takes into account the entire condition of the
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patient in making a decision as to what's the best
modality of treatment for that patient in a
particular situation, and I believe that®s what
applied here.

Q. Okay. Now, | want you to take a look at
the document that®"s to your right, which will be the
information pertaining to the aAnkle/Brachial Index.
And 1 think at the bottom of that document will be
some numbers and information relative to the
exercise that was employed relative to Mrs. Paino.
Do you see that?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. First of all, can you tell us what
exercise was requested of Mrs. Paino at the time 1in
which this test was done?

A. She was just asked to walk on a treadmill
at a very minimal elevation.

Q. When you say "minimal elevation," can you
tell us if that document sets forth degree of
elevation?

A. Yes, it does. It says 10 degrees of
elevation.

Q. Okay. Now, use your hand, if you would,
pleasd™ and have it level, which will indicate 180.

Can you go ahead and show us by way of the tipping
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of your hand approximately what 10 degrees would be?
A. IT this is level, 10 degrees i1s perhaps
like this. (Indicating.)
Q. And can you tell us whether or not the
document provides any information relative to the

speed in which the test was being conducted?

A. Yes, it does.

Q. What?

A. It says that the rate was 1 mile per
hour .

Q. Can you tell us what the normal rate of

speed would be for an individual who was walking
normally?

A. Usually, 1t"s around 3 to 4 miles an
hour.

Q. So, in other words, this test that was
conducted on behalf of Mrs. Paino or one In which
she participated i1in was at a speed of approximately
1 mile per hour, according to that document, at a --
at a rate or a level of approximately 10 degrees
above level; is that correct?

A, Correct.

Q. Does that document also provide
information relative to when, 1f at all, she

experienced pain?
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. Yes, 1t does.
What is 1t?

At 1 minute.

PSS O N

. Based upon the numbers there, first of
all, can you tell us whether there i1s any indication
that she would have stenosis in either the right or
left lower extremity at rest?

A Yes, there 1is.

Q. And can you tell us whether or not the
numbers remain the same or change iIn any appreciable

fashion following the employment of exercise?

A. They do change dramatically after
exercise.
Q. Tell us the significance, i1f you would,

please, of the changing of those numbers.
MR. HAWAL: Objection.

Q. You may answer, Doctor.

A. I stated earlier the numbers showed
dramatic decrease in the actual Ankle/Brachial Index
after exercise at 1 minute, and, actually,
immediately i1s the way the term is used on this
form, to a level that i1s quite critical both on the
right and the left, "critical" meaning that the
patient should be experiencing severe pain 1n a very

short period of time, which is almost limb
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threatening iIn -- on the right side and severely
Incapacitating on the left.

Q. To what extent, if at all, would you as a
physician take into consideration the history that
Is provided to you by a patient iIn attempting to
determine what i1s the underlying problem?

A. Well, the history is actually the most
important thing we do. So, to that extent, we take
it very seriously iInto consideration.

Q. Now, you reviewed Dr. Sawkar®s office
records, did you not?

A. Yes, 1 did.

Q. By the way, when did Dr. Sawkar first see
Mrs. Paino in relationship to the two documents
sitting in front of you?

A In relationship to this document, it
would have been around January of 1995.

Q. And when did he see her i1n the office for
the very TfTirst time?

A. I believe it was 1In 1993.

Q. Can you tell us whether or not the
documents that were generated from her presentation
to his office iIn 1993 provide any information
relative to the presence of either superficial

varicosities in both of the extremities or phlebitis
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or thrombophlebitis In either one of the
extremities?

A. Yes. They -- It -- 1t indicates that she
had superficial thrombophlebitis 1in both lower
extremities.

Q. And can you tell us to what extent, if at
all, the presence of thrombophlebitis will have an
impact on the saphenous vein of both extremities?

A Well, usually, that is the vein involved

with the superficial thrombophlebitis.

Q. Okay.

A. And it -- 1t actually occludes the
vessel.

Q. When you say "occlude," what do you mean?

A It means the blood i1s no longer flowing

through 1t and the vessel is, basically, what we
call thrombosed or sclerosed, no longer as a
conduit.

Q. And can you tell us, based upon the
records you reviewed, 1T there was a history of
underlying cardiac disease or cardiac abnormalities
with Mrs. Paino?

A. Mrs. Paino actually had had a cardiac
bypass prior to being seen in 1995. | believe it

was 1n '94 at the Cleveland Clinic Foundation.
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Q. And can you tell us if there is a
relationship or an association between the presence
of some type of atherosclerotic condition in the
lower extremities as opposed to atherosclerosis that
would dictate or demand that intervention be done on
behalf of a patient for cardiac abnormalities?

A. Yes. Atherosclerosis i1Is a systemic
disease. It doesn"t just affect one artery. It
affects all the arteries. So the same disease
process that caused her coronary arteries to be
bypassed also caused her femoral -- superficial
femoral arteries and other arteries to become
diseased with the same -- with the same
atherosclerotic changes.

Q. Now, Dr. Pitluk, can you tell us whether
or not the PVR study or the arr interpretation will
provide degrees of stenosis or occlusion relative to
the vessels of the lower extremity?

A, Yes, as | indicated before.

Q. Well, will i1t provide you specific
information or do you have to get another study to
determine whether or not there is the presence of
complete occlusion or partial stenosis?

A. Yes. The -- The A -- The arri and the PUR

studies are good indicators of disease, as | spoke
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to, but 1If we want to know exactly where the problem
Is, we need an actual picture of the artery, and
that picture is obtained with an angiogram, which 1is
an x-ray where dye or contrast material 1iIs put
specifically into the artery and a picture is taken
where the arteries actually show up on x-ray.

Q- Now, there is two more documents that are
sitting right above the PVR study, right up at the
top, right there. Can you tell us what those
documents represent? And I will tell you that they
would have been part and parcel of documents that
would have been generated relative to her
presentation to Fairview General Hospital, 1
believe, on February 8th of 1995.

A. These are reports of the arteriogram that
I jJust described where one opacifies the arteries
done on February s8th, 1995, at Fairview General
Hospital by Dr. Sawkar.

Q. And just briefly tell us what the result
of that test was relative to the extremities.

A. This test confirms the fact that
Mrs. Paino had severe blockages and arteriosclerosis
obliterans of the arteries of both lower
extremities, both legs.

Q. By the way, can -- do you know if
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second page.

A. Which leg do you want me to address?
Both?

Q. Yeah. Why don"t you do that.

A. The study, basically, just says that the

right superficial femoral is occluded i1n the
mid-thigh and re-opens through collaterals from the
profunda above the knee. The left side has a high
grade stenosis in the femoral and popliteal
junction. He says 90 to 95 percent, which can be
ballooned. So he indicates that he feels that this
particular lesion on the left side 1s amenable to
balloon angioplasty.

Just below the knee, and we"re still on
the left side, the popliteal trifurcation is
occluded, but the tibial vessels reform the
collaterals. The right-sided two vessel run-off 1is
noted, and right fem-pop will not be done unless the
claudication becomes disabling or rest pain
develops.

Q. Now, according to Dr. Sawkar®s records,
can you tell us whether or not there was any
conversation that ensued between Dr. Sawkar and
Mrs. Paino pertaining to what Dr. Sawkar had

recommended for her following the information gained
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from the arteriogram?

A. Yes.
Q. What?
A. I believe his iIndications 1n the records

were that he wanted to perform a balloon angioplasty
on her because that would be amenable to her
condition.

Q. And can you tell us whether or not you
have formed an opinion, based upon reasonable
medical probability, whether the decision -- the
recommendation that Dr. Sawkar gave to Mrs. Paino
relative to the iInvolvement of a balloon angioplasty

was an appropriate one? Do you have an opinion?

A. Yes, | do.
Q. And what is that opinion, sir?
A My opinion is that i1t was a -- perfectly

appropriate to perform a balloon angioplasty in this
individual.

Q. Why?

A. For the same reasons that Dr. --
Dr. Sawkar indicated in his deposition, which is,
basically, she had a lesion that was amenable to
balloon angioplasty. She had a history of cardiac
disease. She was an elderly woman who certainly did

have severe medical problems and that the balloon
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angioplasty would provide the least invasive method
of obtaining blood flow to that lower extremity to
alleviate her condition. So it would be the safest
for the patient.

Q. Dr. Pitluk, as part of the records that |
provided to you, can you tell us whether one of the
records was a report by a Dr. Porter, who i1s also a
vascular surgeon from Portland, Oregon?

A. Yes. There was a brief report by
Dr. Porter.

Q. Dr. Pitluk, 1 want you to assume for
purposes of this question that Dr. Porter has
numerous opinions, one of which was that the
condition of Mrs. Paino did not represent something
that warranted any type of intervention, including a
balloon angioplasty. | want you to assume that as
being fact.

Based upon your review of the records and
based upon your review of the studies, do you have
an opinion, based upon reasonable medical
probability, whether or not the intervention alone
of a balloon angioplasty was warranted? Do you have
an opinion?

A. Perhaps I misunderstand you. |Is this --

Q. This 1s Dr. --
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artery. Whether it was extravasation or dissection
Is sort of irrelevant. There was an occlusion.

Q. Now, did you, by any chance, review the
operative note relative to the balloon angioplasty
that was dictated by Dr. Sawkar and also by the

resident, Dr. Siebert?

A. The two different notes?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. Yes, | did.

Q. And there -- there are two different

notes, but are they notes relative to the same

procedure?
A. Yes, they are.
Q. And can you tell us whether or not there

Is any record relative to their belief or their
opinion of whether or not there was, In fact, free
flow of blood between the area in which was
ballooned to a lower segment?

A. Yes. They both believe that there was
free flow, and their indications were a palpable
popliteal pulse, a Dopplerable, that 1s to say
audible pulses by use of an augmented listening
device in the ankle areas and that all indications
on both reports were that there was adequate flow

and a successfTul balloon angioplasty.
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Q. What i1s i1t?

A. They were totally within the acceptable
standards.

Q. Have you reviewed the operative note of

Dr. Sawkar that was either dictated or at least set
forth as a result of his second intervention with
Mrs. Paino on the 27th of February, 19957

A. Yes, | have.

Q. And can you tell us whether or not that
operative note sets forth what Dr. Sawkar-®s
involvement was with Mrs. Paino?

A. Yes, it does.

Q. And to what extent, if at all, were you
able to gain information or knowledge relative to
whether he did a further balloon as opposed to a

bypass grafting procedure?

A. Well, he did a further bypass, the
balloon --

Q. What did he do?

A. He did a bypass procedure, and the note
iIs quite clear that he did this bifur -- bypass

procedure below the occlusion in the trifurcation of
vas -- that he described in his arteriogram and
placed a synthetic graft from her femoral artery,

which is 1n the groin, around the occlusions of her
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superficial femoral artery down to the tibial
peroneal trunk, where the artery was soft and able
to be bypassed.

Q. Dr. Pitluk, do you have an opinion -- and
from this point on, I"m just going to have you
assume that all of my questions pertaining to
opinions include that those opinions are within a
reasonable degree of medical probability. Would you
do that for me, please?

A. Yes, sSir.

Q. Okay. Can you tell us if you formed an
opinion in this case relative to the initial
procedure that was done, i.e., the balloon
angioplasty, and whether or not the dissection or
the occlusion, whatever 1t may have been, iIs a
complication of the type of procedure that, in fact,
was done by Dr. Sawkar?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. Is it a recognized complication within
the field or circle of vascular surgeons?

A. Oh, absolutely.

Q. Now, when you talk about or 1 talk about
and I ask you relative to questions involving
recognized complications, explain to the ladies and

gentlemen of the jury what a recognized complication
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of a surgical procedure happens to be.

A. Unfortunately, when we do surgery,
It"s -- there®s an art involved as well as the
science, and you don"t always get a perfect result.
Perfect results do not -- or -- or lack of perfect
results do not mean negligence nor do they mean that
one is performing below the standards of care in the
community.

We often see complications that are
recognized, and the major recognized complication of
a balloon angioplasty is failure of the procedure to
do what you are trying to do, which 1s open up the
vessel, and this failure often is a dissection. 1In
fact, the method of operation of a balloon
angioplasty is to cause a rupture of the lining of
the artery, which causes a dissection. We actually
want a controlled dissection.

Sometimes, however, the dissection will
lead to occlusion. The artery will become clotted
by the blood that®"s flowing through i1t because of
the procedure performed. This i1s a recognized
problem that happens, and one needs to be attuned to
it.

So a recognized complication is: Of any

operation, there are things that sometimes don"t go
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according to the way you want them to go. And

this -- 1n a balloon angioplasty, dissection and/or
rupture and/or occlusion are seen as the three most
common complications.

Q. I forgot to ask you if you were able to
determine from Dr. Sawkar®s February 1é6th, 1995,
office note what his intended purpose was in doing
the balloon angioplasty.

A. Yes. | believe his purpose was to try to
increase the blood flow to the knee area through
collaterals because of her arthritis and a possible
impending arthritic operation.

Q. And do you recall, from reviewing
Dr. Sawkar®"s office note, that note stating that he
would do the left superficial femoral artery balloon
angioplasty to improve collateral circulation; do

you recall that?

A. That -- That®"s what 1 just said.
Q. What i1s a collateral?
A. When you have an area of occlusion in an

artery, think of it as a main street. Being
familiar with Cleveland, think of Euclid Avenue, and
if that"s the main artery that takes you downtown,
iIf Euclid Avenue is blocked, you need to get

downtown, well, there are other ways to get
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downtown, and that"s what we would call a collateral
artery or a collateral street.

It s a street that'll take you parallel
around the blocked area and then get you in maybe
lower down on Euclid Avenue or onto a different
street to downtown.

In the arterial system, it"s exactly
analogous. If you have a blockage in an artery,
such as the superficial femoral artery, there are
other little side streets that will get blood around
the blockage down to where you want to go; in this
case, the lower leg.

That®"s the reason why, even though the
major artery is blocked, you don®t develop gangrene,
necessarily, nor do you even develop vascular
problems, because enough blood is going through
these side streets, 1f you will, to keep the
extremity viable and pain free.

THE REPORTER: Just a minute.

(A discussion was held off the record.)

Q. Dr. Pitluk, iIn the absence of an
occlusion or stenosis of a major vessel, are
collaterals always there or do collaterals form as a
result of stenosis or occlusion?

A. They"re always there, but they actually
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will get bigger because of the stenosis and
occlusion.

Q. Okay. Now, going back to the second
procedure on the 27th of February, what did
Dr. Sawkar do?

A. He went 1n and performed a bypass

operation using a synthetic graft.

Q. Gore-Tex?
A. Gore-Tex.
Q. Now, in that situation, can you tell us

whether or not it was acceptable to use a Gore-Tex
graft as opposed to the patient"s own vessel, such
as a saphenous vein, autologous vessel?

A. Yes. It was acceptable, perfectly
acceptable. .

Q. IT the physician who is doing a procedure
such as this, a bypass of an area of occlusion, and
that physician believes that there has been a
history of thrombophlebitis, to what extent, if at
all, is that taken iInto consideration when
attempting to determine whether a synthetic graft
should be used as opposed to the patient's own
vessel or autologous vessel?

A. It"s extremely Important because --

Q. Why?
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your opinion, have attempted to harvest the left
saphenous vein -- strike that -- the right
saphenous vein after already attempting to harvest
the left saphenous vein and finding that there were
abnormalities associated with that vessel? To what
extent should he have then attempted to use the

right in lieu of that history?

A. You mean, iIn -- because of the history?
Q Because, not in lieu of.

A Right.

Q. But in -- because of the history.

A Yeah. 1 -- 1 think he was perfectly

within the standards of care of the community to do
what he did, which i1s not go to the right side and
use an aut -- and use a synthetic graft, in this

case Gore-Tex, to do the bypass.

Q. Up to this point, has he met the standard
of care?

A Yes.

Q. Now, where did he do the anastomosis or

the joining together of the vessels? Explain to us
proximally and then explain where the anastomosis
was done distally.

A. Proximally, or up on top, he did it at

the level just below the groin crease where the
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common femoral artery becomes the superficial
femoral artery, which i1s the appropriate spot. And
then he went below the knee joint to an area below
where the occlusion was in the trifurcation, as he
described iIn his arteriogram in early February,
found an area of the tibial peroneal trunk which was

soft and plugged his graft in there.

Q. And was that appropriate, iIn your
opinion --
A Absolutely.

-- to do the anastomosis distally in the
area that you have just described, which would have

been distal to the trifurcation?

A Not only iIs i1t appropriate; that"s where
I would have put the -- the anastomosis, also.

Q. Should it have gone lower?

A. No. There was no reason to go lower.

Q. What happened then?

A. What happened then, apparently, was over

the course of the next day, the graft occluded.

Q. And can you tell us whether or not it 1is
common or uncommon for a Gore-Tex graft, In the face
of what this patient has gone through, to occlude?

A. Common? What do you mean by "common"?

Q. Common or uncommon. Does 1t happen all
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the time? Is 1t --

A. It happens --

Q. -- something that"s rare?

A. It"s a recognized complication.
Q. Can you tell us from the records

approximately when the occlusion occurred?

A. It"s hard to say, but I would imagine it
occlude -- occluded sometime around 1:30 Or 2:00 1N
the morning, perhaps a little later.

Q. And based upon these records, Dr. Pitluk,
are you able to tell us when the second procedure
finished --

A. I don"t recall.

Q. -- what time of the night? Why don"t you
take a look at the anesthesia record, i1f you®ve got

that, and tell us when. And the records are behind

you .
A Okay. Excuse me a moment.
Q Just look at the anesthesia record.
A Can 1 use this?
Q. Yeah. pPlease.
A. You"ll have to excuse me, but there®"s a

lot of different anesthesia records.
Q. It"s the record for the procedure on

February 27th.
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want you to assume that. | want you to assume that
Dr. Sawkar did not see Mrs. Paino until the
following morning, i.e., February 28th, 1995.

Based upon those facts as | have provided
them to you and assuming that to be accurate as |
have described it, do you have an opinion, based
upon reasonable medical probability, whether or not
by the time that Dr. Sawkar found -- saw Mrs. Paino,
there has already been established permanent nerve

damage to the left lower extremity? Do you have an

opinion?
MR. HAWAL: Objection.
Q You may answer, Doctor.
A. Yes.
Q What 1s that opinion, sir?
A. That there probably was damage that

already occurred by the time he saw her.

Q. Now, I'm going to ask you a question that
I know somebody else will, but 1'11 do it first.
After Dr. Sawkar saw Mrs. Paino on the morning of

the 2s8th, should he have taken her back to surgery?

A. On the morning of the 28th>?

Q. Yes.

A. I believe he should have, yes.

Q And can you tell us to what extent the
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failure of Dr. sawkar to take her back to surgery

for whatever he was going to do caused further

damage - -
A. I --
Q. -- to Mrs. Paino's left lower extremity?
A. I -- I don*"t think 1t probably made a

difference at that point insofar as further damage
is concerned.

And do you believe that there already was
damage done to the left lower extremity as you have
already described it?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, Doctor, can you tell us,
taking everything iInto account, everything that we
have gone over up to this point, whether or not up
to the morning of the 28th of February, 1995,

Dr. Sawkar met acceptable standards of practice for
a vascular surgeon?

A. Yes. | believe he absolutely did.

Q. And do you believe that anything that he
did or failed to do up to that point caused any
injury to Mrs. Paino?

A. No. I mean, iInjury occurred, but he
didn*t do anything wrong, iIf that"s what you“"re

indicating.
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Q. That®"s what 1'm asking --
AL NoO .
Q. -- whether or not anything that he may

have done was beneath the standard of care that
ultimately caused iInjury to this patient.

A. No. Nothing he did was beneath the
standard of care.

Q. And up to that point, he met the standard
of care; 1s that correct?

A. Absolutely.

MR. BONEZZI1: | have no further

questions. Thank you.

EXAMINATION
BY MrR. HAWAL:

Q. Dr. Pitluk, where did Dr. Sawkar obtain
his training in peripheral vascular surgery?

A. I don"t recall. 1 believe he did -- did
some at -- 1n Cleveland at -- 1 think it might have
been Lutheran or Fairview, but I"m not sure. |1
don*"t really know.

Q. You read his deposition, did you not?

A. Yes. 1 didn"t pay attention to that,

Q. Have you been provided by Mr. Bonezzi
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with a copy of Dr. Sawkar's curriculum vitae, which

was previously marked as Plaintiff"s Exhibit 17

A. No. Or if I did, | don"t recall it.

Q. Would you take a look at that?

A. (Reviewing document.)

Q. Where does that indicate that Dr. Sawkar

represents that he obtained his training in
peripheral vascular surgery?

A. Oh, that"s right. The Marion clinic. |
remember that now.

Q Smith Clinic?

A. P.C. -- Yeah. P.C. Smith Clinic 1in

Marion, Ohio.

Q. All right.
A. Right.
Q. so Dr. Sawkar indicates that that"s where

he obtained his training iIn peripheral vascular

surgery?
A. I recall that now. That"s correct.
Q. He - -
A. That was i1n his deposition.
Q. He testified that that"s where he did all

of his training with respect to balloon angioplasty
procedures. Do you remember that?

A. I believe he said that he learned balloon
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angioplasty there, yes.
Q. Have you been made aware by Mr. -- from
Mr. Bonezzi since Dr. Sawkar®"s deposition that, iIn
fact, he never did a fellowship iIn peripheral
vascular surgery anywhere, let alone the P.C. Smith
Clinic?
MR. BONEZZl: Objection. Go ahead and

answer, Doctor.

A. No.

Q. And you indicated that you do not perform
peripheral -- you do not perform angioplasty
procedures?

A. No, I don"t.

Q. And 1 believe you testified In your

deposition previously that in all the i1nstitutions
that you®ve been affiliated with and have had
privileges at, those procedures are done by invasive
radiologists.
A. well, I -- for me, they are, yes. |

mean, other people do them.

All right. Cardiologists do them?

- Yes.

Q
A
Q. And vascular surgeons do them?
A Some do, yes.

Q

. Some do. Minority of vascular surgeons?
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A. I -- 1 don"t have a number on that.

Q. Is a cardiothoracic surgeon different in
terms of the type of training that a cardiothoracic
surgeon receives as compared and contrasted with a
peripheral vascular surgeon?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know if cardiothoracic surgeons
receive any training in performing peripheral va --
peripheral vascular angioplasty procedures on the
lower extremities?

A. I don"t know iIf they do or they don-"t.
I'm not Ffamiliar with any that do, but there may be
some.

Q. Would you agree that an angioplasty
procedure is considered a relatively safe procedure?

A. Yes.

Q. Is the likelithood of complication, such
as rupture or dissection, something that is
increased in the hands of a careless or
inexperienced physician?

A. Well, I think careless always will create
more complications. That"s correct.

Q. What about an i1nexperienced physician?

A. Not necessarily.

Q- Is the risk of complication such as
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arterial rupture or dissection during balloon
inflation quite low, somewhere around 2 percent?

A. It"s somewhere In the neighborhood of
2 to 5 percent.

Q. Would you agree that guide-wire
dissection is often an avoidable complication that
iIs related to operator inexperience?

A. No .

Q. Would you agree that rupture during
balloon inflation i1s quite rare when appropriately

sized balloon catheters are used?

A. Please define "guite rare."

Q. Quite rare, less than 1 percent?

A. Probably, that®"s correct.

Q. I notice that you have several vascular

texts here i1n your office sitting behind you on a
grouping of shelves. One is Rutherford®s Text on

Vascular Surgery?

A. Right.

Q. And that®"s Volume 1 of a two-volume set?
A. Yes. Volume 2 i1s, 1 think, at home.

Q. That i1s a text that®"s au -- that"s edited

by Dr. Robert Rutherford?
A. Correct,

Q. Could you tell the ladies and gentlemen
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of the jury who Dr. Robert Rutherford i1s?

A. Professor of Surgery at the University of
Colorado.

Q. And is Dr. Rutherford --

A. Vascular surgery. I'm SOrry.

Q. Is Dr. Rutherford considered to be one of

the preeminent authorities?

A No. I mean, he's no more authoritative
than -- than many, many other people.

Q. Is he more authoritative than you are?

A. It depends on who you ask.

Q. Anyone but you?

A I don®"t think my wife would agree.

Q. Okay. 1Is his textbook on vascular
surgily -- surgery highly respected and considered a

reliable source for information on peripheral
vascular surgery?

A. It s the -- like all -- all textbooks,
and his textbook i1s not unique. 1t"s a basis for

the fund of knowledge that one uses.

Q. Do you know Dr. John Porter?

A I don"t know him personally. | know who
he 1s.

Q. Do you know that he has been i1nvited to

write fTive chapters in Dr. Rutherford's Text on
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Vascular Surgery?

A. I don"t have any reason to deny that or
dispute that.

Q. Do you recognize that his writings appear
regularly iIn vascular surgical textbooks and the
vascular surgical journals that you subscribe to and
have sitting on your desk, such as the Journal of

Vascular Surgery?

A. Sure.
Q. Doctor, you talked earlier about the
con -- the angioplasty procedure that Dr. Sawkar

performed. At the completion of an angioplasty
procedure, 1s It customary or within the standards
of care for a vascular surgeon or a invasive
radiologist or whoever is performing the angioplasty

procedure to do what i1s called completion

angiography?

A Yes.

Q. And what is the purpose? What is a
completion angio -- angiogram?

A. Well, 1t"s just an x-ray after you-"ve

done the procedure to see 1T the procedure 1is
performed.
Q. To see If there®s any complications that

may have occurred?
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AL That could be one reason.

Q. So that the patient isn"t sent from the
operating room with complications that should and
can, in fact, be corrected while the patient is
still under -- still 1In the operating suite?

A. Well, they're not usually in the
operating room suite. They"re usually iIn the
radiology suite, but -- so, to that extent, no.

Q. But before the patient i1s -- 1Is sent back
to a general floor?

A Depending on the degree of complication.

Q. And 1f there®s a rupture of the arterial
wall, dye will be shown on that x-ray as being

outside of the confines of the artery or vessel?

A. Very often.

Q. Doctor, I'm handing you what 1I*ve marked
as Exhibit 2A for purposes of your deposition. It
is a radiology report re -- pertaining to the

completion films after the balloon angioplasty

performed by Dr. Sawkar; is that true?

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. You've seen that before?

A. Yes, | have.

Q. Could you read for the ladies and

gentlemen of the jury what the radiologist
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A. At that time, during the procedure.

Q. In fact, you can -- Do you recall from
Dr. Sawkar®"s deposition that even as of this time,
Dr. Sawkar still cannot see what you see and what
the radiologist sees on that -- on those films?

A. Well, 1 -- 1 can"t really speak for
Dr. Sawkar.

Q. Doctor, can we agree that many patients
who have atherosclerotic disease i1n their lower
extremities significant to cause symptoms are older
or geriatric patients?

A. Yes.

Q. Can we also agree that these same
patients can and often do have other disease
processes such as degenerative arthritis, which can
itselft cause pain and limitations in walking?

A. Correct.

Q. And would you agree that it is essential
to confirm that a patient®s, symptoms are, indeed,
being caused by peripheral vascular disease as
opposed to some other condition before recommending
that that patient undergo an invasive procedure,
such as a balloon angioplasty or a bypass grafting?

A. Yes.

Q. And that i1s, In fact, why the standard of
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not a candidate for angiography and an art -- and an

arterial bypass. Some of these patients will be

relieved by appropriate treatment for gout or

osteoarthritis."
A Only i1f that®"s their underlying problem.
Q. All right. Dr. Sawkar sent Mrs. Paino to

a laboratory for PVR testing on January 30th, 1995;
Is that true?

A. As the statements that 1 reviewed, yes.

Q. And that result -- the results of that
testing was iInterpreted by Dr. Sawkar in the report
that you read earlier iIn response to Mr. Bonezzi's
questions?

A. Yes.

Q. And that report that Dr. Sawkar dictated
actually demonstrates that Mrs. Paino's occlusive
disease was worse on her right side, in her right
leg, than it was on the left, doesn"t i1t?

A. "wWworse" meaning what~»

Q. Meaning a worse Ankle/Brachial Index, a
decreased value on the right side as opposed to the
left.

A. Yes, but it doesn"t mean I1t"s worse
disease. It means the numbers were -- were

indicating a worse disease.
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Q. It would be consistent with greater
symptoms on the right side than on the left side?

A No. That®"s my point.

Q. What were the -- What was the resting

Ankle/Brachial Index on the left?

A. .70.

Q What was it on the right?
A. .55.

Q. .90 1s normal; correct?
A. Usually.

MR. BONEZZIl: Objection.
A Usually. 1 1is really normal.
Q. I thought you testified earlier that o

can be normal.

A. It can be, yes, .9.

Q. .7 1s not consistent with rest pain, is
it?

A Usually not.

Q. You begin having rest pain at about .25°?

A. Depends on the individual, but that"s
a -- that"s a guideline.

Q. You are aware, of course, that Dr. Sawkar

diagnosed Mrs. Paino as having rest pain on the left
side?

A. He called i1t night pain, 1 believe.
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Q. Do you believe that he diagnosed it as
being consistent with rest pain?

A. I think he diagnosed i1t as being
consistent with significant arterial disease.

Q. Did not Dr. Sawkar recommend that
Mrs. Paino have an invasive procedure on the
left-hand side because he was convinced in his own
mind that she was having rest pain in her left lower
leg?

No.

You are aware, Doctor, that Dr. Sawkar
now claims that in making his decision to perform an
angioplasty procedure on Mrs. Paino®"s left leg, that
when he did the vascular lab study, that the .55
which she reported as being on the -- on the right,
he really meant that that was on the left and that
the .7 that he reported as being on the left was
really representative of the right side? You're
aware of that?

AL I believe he testified to that.

Q. And since your deposition and since
Dr. Sawkar®s testimony, you have been provided with
the actual lab worksheet that was generated at the
time of the lab study?

A. Yes.
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Q. And that lab worksheet, in fact,
demonstrates that the left side was, as iIn -- as
tested, .7, and the right side was .557

A. Yes.

Q. Inconsistent with Dr. Sawkar®s contention
that he transposed the numbers or values?

A. Well, I mean, he still wrote this. |
mean, 1f that"s his testimony, he transposed it, he
transposed it. | mean, he -- this i1s his report,
so, I mean, I -- 1 have no opinion as to whether or
not 1t"s an error or anything else.

Q. Doesn"t the vascular lab worksheet that
you"ve been provided since your deposition and since
Dr. sawkar's dep -- deposition establish that, in
fact, the left side is .7 and not .55 as Dr. Sawkar
contended iIn his deposition testimony?

A. It doesn"t establish anything more than
what®"s written on it. | mean, whether or not it was

transposed or not, | have no way of knowing.

Q. Doctor, you testified earlier that
that Mrs. Paino has significant or severe
degenerative arthritis in her left knee.

A. I believe that"s correct.

Q. You did not know that a month ago when

your deposition was taken?
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A I -- Unfortunately, 1 forgot about i1t. 1
reviewed the records and found it in there.

Q. What do you know about what Mrs. Paino
says about her symptoms as to whether or not she was
having pain in her calf or whether she was having
pain iIn her knee consistent with degenerative

arthritis when she saw Dr. Sawkar in January 19957

A. I know no more than the records 1"ve
reviewed.
Q. You have not heard anything from

Mr. Bonezzi as to what Mrs. Paino says about that
other than what i1s in Dr. Sawkar®s records?

A. No, I haven-"t.

Q. Doctor, is a Brachial -- 1s a
Brachial/Ank --

A. Ankle/Brachial.

Q. -- Ankle/Brachial Index consistent with
a .7 consistent with intermittent claudication?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And do 80 patient -- 80 percent of
patients with intermittent claudication improve or
remain stable without vascular intervention of
invasive nature?

A. 80 percent? | --

Q- Yes.
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approximately until his tragic, tragic accident two
and a half years ago.

Q. Highly regarded in his field?

A. Again, 1 don"t know what you mean by
"highly regarded."” He was the chairman of the
department.

Q. Regularly published in the medical

literature?

A Yes.

Q. Do you know a Dr. Richard Fowl?

A. Fowl?

Q. F-o-w-1, also from the University of

Ccincinnati.

A. No.

Q. Are you aware i1f Dr. Kampzinski and
Dr. Fowl published materials on the issue of
intermittent claudication that would indicate that a
greater majority of patients with iIntermittent
claudication are not candidates for any kind of
invasive procedure and that their claudication will
remain stable and, 1n many instances, iImprove
without any further treatment?

MR. BONEZZI1: Objection.
A. Actually: the only study 1"m familiar

with of Dr. Kampzinski's, which was very highly
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publicized, was his carotid endarterectomy study

where he said that 10 to 15 percent of people having

endarterectomy in the community setting will have a

stroke. That proved to be grossly, grossly wrong.
So to answer your question, the only

studies I "m familiar with in the literature of

Dr. Kampzinski's are disproven.

Q. Let"s talk about the first surgery after
the rupture of the artery and Mrs. Paino was taken
back to the operating -- or taken to the operating
room by Dr. Sawkar. You've seen that operative

report, Doctor?

A. The bypass procedure?

Q Correct.

A. Yes, | have.

Q This was an emergency procedure?

A. Yes.

Q. And that was done within an hour of her

losing her pulses i1n her left leg after the
angioplasty?

A. Somewhere 1n that time frame.

Q. And this was an emergency procedure
because with blood flow iInterrupted, 1t was
determined that her left leg would be threatened if

blood flow was not promptly reestablished?

&
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A. That"s a safe statement.

Q. And do you agree with Dr. Siebert that
time 1s of the essence under these circumstances to
get the flow of blood reestablished?

A NOo. Time's important. | wouldn't say
1t"s of the essence.

Q. What do you mean by time®s important?

A. You have a window of opportunity to --
you know, you don"t have to do i1t within an hour or
two hours. Usually, the revascularization in a
situation like this should take place within five to
seven hours.

Q. So within five to seven hours, it is the
goal of the vascular surgeon to have the flow of
blood reestablished to the lower leg so that
permanent nerve damage or tissue death does not
occur from ischemia and resulting complications?

A Well, 1 -- 1 wouldn®"t exactly put it that
way, NnOo.

Q. So we"ll just leave it at the fact that
it should be done within five to seven hours?

A. In this acute situation, that®"s the
optimal, yes.

Q. And Dr. Sawkar determined that during the

exploration of the left leg, that a bypass of the
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blockage would be necessary?

A. Correct.

Q. And he harvested the left saphenous vein
in an effort to use it for the bypass procedure;
correct?

A. I -- 1 believe he harvested it or
evaluated it In some way.

Q. And he found it to be clottic -- clotted
and phlebitic; true?

A. Correct.

Q. Not a surprise in view of the fact that
in 1993 Mrs. Paino was treated for severe
thrombophlebitis in her left leg and was, in fact,

hospitalized for that problem?

A. Left or right, yes.

Q. Left?

A. Yeah. Yes.

Q. She was treated for her left leg DvTs 1In

1993; correct?
A. She was treated for both leg DVTs,
according to his medical records.

Q. All right. Let"s explore that a little

A. Okay .

Q. Where in the medical records are you
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referring to her receiving treatment in -- for her
right leg?

A His office chart.

Q. And what is it in his office chart that

leads you to conclude that she received any form of

treatment because of significant disease iIn her

right leg?

A. His office note.

Q. And what does his office note say about
that?

A. I can"t recall verbatim, if you"d like to

show that to me.

Q. I certainly will. In fact, Doctor,
perhaps you can read the May 20th, 1993, office note
to which 1 think you"re referring. And | have, 1in
fact, typed out verbatim above Dr. Sawkar®s charting
perhaps to make it easier for you. What did
Dr. Sawkar say about Mrs. paino's condition on that
date?

A On May 20th, 1993, "Left leg severe
varicose vein with superficial phlebitis.

Right - mild. Plan: Continue Indocin. Return to
office," or RTC is what it -- RTO 1s what it says.
You write, "Return to office three weeks. Possible

surgery, " the symbol for left leg.
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Q. All right. Now, Doctor, is that the
record to which you"re referring to in -- when you

say that Mrs. Paino received treatment for right leg

thrombophlebitis?
A. For both, yes, i1s what 1 said.
Q. All right. And do you find any reference

anywhere else in Dr. Sawkar®s records or any other
records to suggest that Mrs. Paino had any

difficulty or treatment with regard to her right

leg?
A Right saphenous vein?
Q. Yes.
A. No.
Q. Doctor, isn"t it the fact that Dr. Sawkar

iIs referring to mild varicosities iIn May 20th, 19932

A. It Just says "mild." I don"t know if
they®"re varicosities or the greater saphenous. |1
would assume i1t"s the greater saphenous.

Q. Doctor, I"m handing you what 1"ve marked
as Exhibit 2C. Can you tell us what that 1s?

A. It says -- dated 6/21/93, a Non-invasive

Vascular Lab Duplex Scan Lower Extremity - Venous

Worksheet.
Q. And what leg was that for?
A. The left.




a b 0w N

(o))

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

76

Q. Any mention of anything about the right?
A. IT 1 can review this a moment.

Q. Certainly.

A. (Reviewing document.) Okay. No. The

report seems to only discuss the left side.

Q. All right. Handing you what 1"ve marked
as Exhibit 2D, can you tell us whether or not that
relates to also problems with Mrs. Paino's left leg?

A. This 1s a Venous Duplex done on the same
date, 6/21/93, and it speaks to the left side.

Q. Exhibit 2E, Doctor, can you tell us what
that 1s?

A. It"s a requisition for the studies that

we jJust spoke to.

Q. And what does it talk about as far as --
A Well., the same, that --

Q. Left leg?

A. Yeah. 1 mean, this is what led to the

others that you showed me. They"re all, basically,

the same document.

Q. Says rule out DVT left leg?

A. Correct.

Q. Doesn't say rule out DVT right and left
leg?

A. No .
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Q. You®re aware that Mrs. Palno was
hospitalized in 1933 for treatment of her left leg
thrombophlebitis?

A. Well, 1 think it was for a DVT extending

to the femoral vein, so --

Q. All right.

A. -- yes, but not for the superficial
phlebitis.

Q. All right. Doctor, have you seen the

hospital record relating to that hospitalization?

A. I think 1 did.

Q. I "ve marked i1t as Exhibit 2F for purposes
of your deposition. And to simplify matters --

A. Uh-huh.

Q. -- 1 have counted and highlighted i1n that
charting 11 separate references to Mrs. Paino's left
leg and submit to you that there is not a single
reference in that entire hospital chart to any
treatment, any complaints, or any problems with her
right leg. And if you want to -- to refresh your

memory or to review that, please do.

A. No. 1 -- 1 have no reason to dispute
that,
Q. Doctor, can you -- I'm handing you the

operative report that we've been talking about,
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Exhibit 28, the operative report dictated by

Dr. Sawkar relating to the harvesting or the attempt
to harvest the left saphenous vein and the ultimate
decision to use a Gore-Tex graft to perform the
bypass procedure. And 1°"ve taken the liberty of
highlighting so that you can go right to it.

At the bottom, Dr. Sawkar stated thought
process as to why he was going to use Gore-Tex as
opposed to either using the left saphenous veiln or
the right saphenous vein, as he testified would have
been his preference.

Would you read for the ladies and
gentlemen of the jury, Doctor, what Dr. Sawkar wrote

Oor dictated -following this procedure as to his

rationale?

A. You want me to read your highlighted
areas?

Q. Yes, please.

A. "Meanwhile why" -- "Meanwhile we

harvested the saphenous vein and we were trying to
inside to bypass, but when we opened the vein for
the proximal anastomosis to the common femoral and
superficial femoral junction, we found that the vein
had thrombosed and was phlebitic and there was no

real good lumen noted. Hence we decided not to use




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

79

saphenous vein as this was thrombophlebitic and
moderate degree of varicosities were noted and no
true lumen was identified. 1In the other leg the
patient had superficial thrombophlebitis and deep
vein thrombosis. A few months ago it was treated
with anticoagulation, saphenous vein i1s not
available in that leg for this purpose. Hence, we
had no other choice other than to use 6 and 1/2 to 4
and 5 -- and 1/s5 Gore tex graft was used."”

Q. That i1sn"t true, is i1t, Doctor?
Dr. Sawkar never treated Mrs. Paino for right-sided

thrombophlebitis several months before this

procedure?
A. Not in the hospital.
Q. Where -- He didn"t treat her anywhere for

thrombophlebitis 1in the right leg several months
before this procedure because he*d only seen her on
January 30th, 1995, and not since 1993; true?

A. 19 -- 1993 i1s when he saw her. [Is that
what you®re asking?

Q. No. 1"m asking you -- Dr. Sawkar
dictated in his record that the reason that he
didn"t harvest the right saphenous vein is because
several months before this, he was treating her

right leg for deep vein thrombosis. What 1'm asking
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you, Doctor, is: That is not true, i1s 1t?

A I*m not aware that he was, no.

Q. A Tfew months before, Mrs. Paino wasn't
even his patient; true?

AL Well, she was his patient In "93.

Q. She hadn®"t seen him since 1993 until
January of 1995; true?

A. I have no records that he had.

Q. Isn't it true, Doctor, that Dr. Sawkar
made an intraoperative error in mistaking which leg
he had treated iIn the past for deep vein thrombosis
and concluded 1n his own mind that he had treated
the right, and that®"s why he didn®"t harvest the
right saphenous vein to do the bypass procedure?

A. I "m not going to presume to read his
mind.

Q. And the reason that Dr. Sawkar wanted to
use the saphenous vein instead of a prosthetic or
Gore-Tex graft is because there®"s a better patency
rate with the saphenous vein as opposed to a

prosthetic graft; true?

A. Long-term patency, yes,

Q. And that i1s something that Dr. Sawkar
recognized in -- in accordance with his testimony?

A Yes.
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Q. And that is consistent with what 1is
reported in the literature, 1s It not?

A That -- That what?

Q. Long-term patency of a saphenous vein or
an autologous graft i1s better than a prosthetic or
Gore-Tex graft?

A Yes. Long-term patency 1is.

Q. What did Dr. Droubi use when he

revascularized Mrs. Paino on March Ist, 1995?

A. He used her right greater saphenous vein.

Q. The one that Dr. Sawkar concluded was not
viable?

A. Yes.

Q. You are aware, Doctor, that Dr. -- that

Mrs. Paino s Gore-Tex graft showed signs of shutting

down at around midnight on February 27th?

A. Perhaps.

Q. That"s what you testified to at your
deposition a month ago, didn"t -- isn't 1t?

A, Yeah. | said somewhere around 1:00,

midnight, something of that nature.

Q. wWell, 1In fact, at Page 38 of your
transcript, if you'd care to look at i1t, you said
midnight, didn"t you?

A. IT you say so, that"s fine.
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Q. And that was about an hour after the
surgery, hour and ten minutes after the procedure?

A. Yes.

Q. And you are also aware, Doctor, are you
not, that Dr. Sawkar testified that he was not
informed by his resident, Dr. Siebert, that
Mrs. Paino"s left leg was becoming progressively
more ischemic through that night?

A. Yes.

Q. And you®re aware that Dr. Sawkar
testified that had he been notified of that fact, he
would have taken her back to the operating room for

another procedure?

A. I -- I believe that®s correct.
Q. And you®re aware, of course, that
Dr. Siebert testified that he did -- did keep

Dr. Sawkar informed of her condition on that night;

correct?
MR. BONEZZIl: Objection. Go ahead and
answer.
A I don"t recall his wording. | think you

asked him a question and he answered in the
affirmative; In other words, "Did you notify him?"
and he said, "Yes."

Q. Handing you what 1"ve marked as
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Exhibit 2G is Dr. siebertt's progress note on 2/28.
Is that 1:50 a.m.?

A. Correct.

Q. And do you see that Dr. Siebert wrote in
that notation "D/W staffu"?

A. Right.

Q. And what do you suppose that entry refers
to when he wrote "D/W staff"?

A. Discuss with staff.

Q. Is it your belief and iIs it your opinion
in this case that Dr. Siebert, in fact, did keep
Dr. Sawkar informed of Mrs. Paino®s deterioration 1in
her left leg and the i1ndications of a graft shutdown
at 1:50 a.-m. or thereabouts as con -- as 1is
consistent with that record?

MR. HEALY: Objection.

A. I -- 1 don"t know what "staff" refers to,
so I -- I can't answer that. Could have been
somebody covering for Dr. Sawkar, for all 1 know.

Q. Well, 1f we -- 1T we refer to

Dr. siebert's deposition, we will see that what
Dr. Siebert referred to was discussing with
Dr. Sawkar; i1s that not true?

A. That®"s his testimony, yes.

Q. And Dr. Sawkar denies that; correct?
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complication after the original operation, forcing

the surgeon to observe the priority of life over

limb."
MR. BONEZZI: Objection.
Q. Do you agree with that statement?
MR. BONEZZI1: Objection.
A. In 1ts entirety?
Q. Yes.
A. No.
Q. Do you agree with this statement? “Early
recognition of graft thrombosis is ex -- is

extremely important. Even 1Tt graft thrombosis does
not immediately threaten limb viability, the success
of management decreases as the time between graft
thrombosis and treatment increases.®

MR. BONEZZI: Objection.

Q. Do you agree with that statement?
A. No .
Q. Do you agree with this statement?

"Occlusion within one week of operation and
particularly within two to three days i1s generally
attributed to technical error or to poor patient
selection."

MR. BONEZZI: Objection.

A. Partially.




10

11

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

86

Q. What part do you agree with?

A. That occlusion very early is very often
secondary technical error.

Q. You're aware that Mrs. Paino has no

ability to use her foot now?

A. Il -- I'm not sure what you mean, "use her
foot. "

Q. Well, can she -- can she move her foot?

A. I don"t know. I think she -- she's
walking with a walker. |1 don*"t know what her foot"s
doing.

Q. Has Mr. Bonezzi indicated to you what

Dr. Wilborne testified to, his nerve conduction and
EMG testing demonstrated with regard to the extent

of the nerve damage to her left lower extremity?

A. No.

Q. What is paresthesia?

A It"s a tingling feeling.

Q. Is that an important finding when one 1is

trying to assess the viability of a leg following a
graft occlusion?

A. No.

Q. What is important to determine whether or
not revascularization iIs necessary after a graft

occlusion 1s suspected?
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A. I think you have to take into
consideration a host of factors, the condition of
the extremity i1tself, the condition of the patient,
the amount of surgery that needs to be done to
reestablish flow, whether or not that operation
is -- 1s warranted, what the chance of successes are
versus the risks. Just a whole -- a whole host of
factors need to be considered. Sometimes primary
amputation should be entertained iInstead of
revascularization in this situation.

Q. You testified earlier, Doctor, that, in

your opinion, Dr. Sawkar should have taken her back

to surgery.

A. Yes.

Q. That®"s a new opinion, isn"t 1t?

A. No.

Q. You never testified to that at the time

of your deposition, did you?

A. I was never asked that.

Q. Did you express it In your report that
you gave to Mr. Bonezzi?

A. No .

Q. You testified that, in your opinion, had
Dr. Sawkar taken Mrs. Paino back to surgery the next

morning, that --
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A. This is -- I'm sorry -- which morning,
now?

Q. The -- The morning of the 28th --

A. Okay .

Q. .. the follow -- the morning, very --

very next morning after her graft occluded.

A. Uh-huh.
Q. Your testimony was that if Dr. Sawkar ha
taken her back, you don®"t -- you believe that she

would have already suffered permanent nerve damage?

AL That"s correct. | don"t think that the
results Dr. Droubi obtained would have been any
different had Dr. Sawkar or Droubi done it a day
earlier.

Q. Handing you progress note of
February 28th, Doctor, which 1"ve marked as
Exhibit 24, is it?

A Correct.

Q. What does the bottom progress note
indicate as to what time of morning it was that

Mrs. Paino was observed still being able to move her

left foot?
A. The highlighted area?
Q. Yes.
A. 11:00 a.m. or 11:00. 11:00. | assume
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It"s 11:00 a.m.

Q. So even as of the morning of the 28th at
11:00 a.m., some physician observed that Mrs. Paino
was still able to move her left foot; correct?

A. I don*t know if that"s a physician. Can
you read who that i1s?

Q. So -- So -- Would it be fair to say that
only a physician would be writing in the progress
notes?

A. No. Nurses write the progress notes.
Vascular technicians write iIn the progress notes.
Respiratory therapists write -- 1 -- | don"t know
who this 1s.

Q. Well, 1 don"t either, but we can assume
that: 1t"s a medical care practitioner providing some
sort of medical care to Mrs. Paino; true?

A. Yeah. A medical care technician,
perhaps, right.

Q. And she was able to move her foot at

11:00 a-m. on the 28th, the very next morning;

correct?

A "Able Tto move foot," 1S the statement
written.

Q. And had that changed since that time, to

your knowledge?
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records, but, no, I don"t see i1t In the hospital
record.

Q. You are aware, of course, that Dr. Sawkar
testified that he denies scheduling Mrs. Paino for

an amputation?

A. I believe that"s correct.

Q- In fact, you know that"s not true, do you
not?

A. Well, I know that he had her sign an

amputation consent form.

Q. Well, do you know if he had her actually
scheduled for the procedure?

A. I don"t recall.

Q. Okay. Handing you what 1"ve marked as
Exhibit 21 1s a preoperative nursing record. Can
you tell us what that preoperative nursing record
indicates is being contemplated for Mrs. Paino?

A. It says, "Operative Procedure - Left
AKA," above-the-knee amputation.

Q- Doctor, handing you what 1"ve marked
Exhibit 2J, can you identify what that document is?
AL Oh, okay. This is the operating room
schedule of Fairview General Hospital for March the

1st --

Q. Can you flip --
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A. -- Wednesday.

Q. Can you flip on Page 2 and tell us, from
the operating room schedule at Fairview General
Hospital, what is shown as far as it relates to
Dr. Sawkar and Mrs. Paino for March Ist?

A. There's something written on here. 1
don®t know whose handwriting it is. [It"s not typed
in like most of the stuff on this schedule i1s. And
it says, "TF," which means to follow, "Sawkar,
Paino, Linda, #2, 76." That"s her age. Under
anesthesia is "acC," and it says left AK amputation.

Q. Doctor, in your efforts to assist
Dr. Sawkar in this case, i1s it your belief that that
iIs not a legitimate entry made in the normal course
of events in Tilling out that operating room log at
Fairview General Hospital?

A. In my efforts to assist Dr. Sawkar? My
efforts are, basically, to testify as an expert in
this case.

Q. Well, why is it that you make a -- an
effort to indicate that that does not appear to be
consistent with other entries on that record?

A. Because 1t"s -- | didn"t make an effort
to say i1t"s inconsistent. |1 said that this was

written in separately. The operative report --




ATtwez
outed 8yl 03 uorT3z=3ndw= @auocTiudl odx JUS31STSUOCDUT
£,9T MUTY3 3,uo@ I 3ng  s=m u=Td sy3 3=ym  mouy NOA
10 -- 10 3T @SIN@e«OS oYM moux 3 ,Uo® I ‘uoy3e3in@ue
ue 10z =,dYys 3=y3 sdA=s 3=~ 3I -- I *ON ‘Y

cuotiaeandwe ue 103

outed @UIT JSTNMdgOsE 30U M@UO =« 3yl Auowrilissi UIOMS

S,ICXMES I YITM JUSISTSUODUT ATTRIOC3 =g 03 WasS
@Inom s@iocoax Syl 3Ieylz A== 03 ITeI 2T SI e

‘s@xiemidiie © W

ue 'omdTTdg I «II™ ol=u s, SQfogEWOS -- sWos =dATH

2T puy , A=@o3 Y@ IO0F MEINMMOYUDE AJTWoI3Ixd ICSMOT

1797 oTWEYosI, sd&=s 31 @ue  BuTtuIoW og3 UT 0E'S
$,3T O , 0€S0 -- § ‘S6-1-E, sdes 31 ¥

(@Ioodx TeaTdsoy <yl Ul SEIeOYMUT

d30u ssdxb0xd 1=Y3 IBM =M TIC] MOA UTO 'NZ IyCIUxE
-- X3 s= @JdqIelW dm, I 3ICYm nolk DHur@ueH o)
=dA .mkmﬂuo I=Xdmae JddS T om3 JdS T 4

¢93ed

d2W=s 3©Yy3 I0J =3usT3=0 ISYIO IO0J S<TIJUD USIATIMWUERY

ISY310 USMIS 3IS=TIT I= 30U JIJY3z wBIT o)
@T= I TI= Ss,3eUl <
"3ybBTI TV e

A¥qud USAITINOU=Y = ST sTyl SW @<@uey noX jeyl

STNE@ Yo M<OX3 = ST JSINGSCSE [BOTHXNE <S¢l -- 3«l

€6

S¢

i

£z

e

12

02

61

8T

LT

91

ST

PI

€T

Z1

1T

0T



iuorjezZrarelnosemdl 3.
31I0J3d U X0 USHe3 X[[BUTJ SeM BYE JdIO0Idg Iylcumiw
INOC® 3® uUMO@Iinys 3IJexb ISY PUIMOTTOZ Uy <Y3J
MmOTd@ ST 3I9] Idg Os UOTIBINOITO Oou Yitm [eiTl@eEoy
U3 uT AeT outed °'SIW PIp bBuol mOH 0
4 "UOT3BZIIRTINDOSBADI J®
10Wg32e 107 UOTUIMO PTODCS ® Se UT dW pSTTeD ATTWe]
SYIL uoT3e3nlue JSUY <SAOCR WX¥OJISM 03 Ieymes *I@ JO
UOTSTIOa@ <Yl @dsnNIdI 3ucgTtied <Yl odsneddq W © gEFE
3 §6/T0/€0 UO JUJSTIEMC 2yl Jieniead 03 MJTTED Se®
I, ’‘siAes s30u §,ITqnoxg °"xg -- =230u STIH ‘Y
‘uoTt3oJdL@O PIZ2ZANOM UKW
iluswilesxl s,0urted 'SIW UT IO - - D
"uot3o<L@o PIZZANOMC INW
-- 9seod
ETU] Ul PSATOAUT SWODJIM O3 UOSesX ETIY DBburipunoians
ESOURISWNOITID 8Y3 3MOge Aes 03 sey T@MOoIm® I@©
1eq® Axn( <dY’ JO USWITIUSH (Que EJSIOe] Y3 I0I @esx
nok uen A1 uwWns o<BieyosIp £, TNOIAM IM@ ST YDTY®
"Mz 1T<TUYx"g ®0Lk Bui@ueg  I0300@ Xe3o o
E@IEMISIZI® 3INO ®
BuTtyTey W, I ou "ou "oy -- 3,uo@ I YO ¥
cSan@oo0xd Ajzserdorbur ue JO HNSTI
B -- B SBM 38Ul OBl @JSUOTIUSW JY SeM @QI0 < IBY®

eyl Lfes mou dg 3J,usdog -- <Y 3, UESOM® ‘D

76

S 2

P

1354

zc

1c

0¢

61

8T

LT

91

ST

PI

€1

ZT

1T

01



Sem 2T UJY]  UOTABRINDOITDO «<3enbopeur 1037 dWeil <WI]
e se eyl Bursn <I,no0k 2T - 3T  TI<M <
(BST XSMOT 3I4ST ISY O3 UOTIRINOITD <jetbdfeurt
yaTtm TeatdeEoy dga uTl Ae] <&«S @IW Buol moy ' cw e Q0T
10 AUSTUMIW 00'ZT §,3T ISYIdYm ' UMOM 3INIE
121D XJSL-<I0H 3yl eyl SwWI3 8Y3 WOIz O o)
edA ’‘=d3ou Jy3z 03 SuUurpIocooy v
¢oanps00a® 33exb X3 -J1095 Y3
BUTMOTT07 AJTWSIIXS IdMOT ISY O3 UOTIIEBIMOXTD Hutaeg
Woox Axsmododx Te3iTdsoy <yl 03 @JuXnidi <Uys 3 ,UseMm
-- uInidi <Ys 3,u@TIc cdanm@dooxd 33evab XJSL-Jdx05H SY3
Xd3Je sJIsTM@ @oob <mey <YE 3, UCTIC TISM e,
*SWT3y 3usssad
03 uo swt3 Ajeel@orbue <Y3 WoIxg ST dwexl awil
dU3] Xdmdleym Os .Xummaaoﬁmcm SU3 I<3ze L{dieT@qWWT
doTdmd@ uoT3TMUOD 3eyl @ey <YS <
QUOTATIMUOD S=Y3 UT JIaYl AT <SYE @IM £amoy Auew
moy !dI<yl ABT <SUYE @TC Buo moy  «HuWe@ SToscW @ue
SMISU JUSURWISO 93BWTIITM <SENRD O3 Se OS UOT3IBINDITD

@osTWoxdwoo AT3uedTITUBbTS Y3ITM o)

“UOT3ETNOITO @OOB Ax<m j0ou 3snl 'UOT3IeTNDITD @ey

<dYS EFJT ICY O7 UOTIBINDITO OU Y3Tm Te3zTdsog <yi
UT Ael Idmd <YE WUTYI 3,u0@ I -- I ' TI<M Y
@esye 09

SWT3 <dY3z 03 se uOTIDJS[«O FIZzINOYE "MW

S6

SZ

¥

€<

[

Tc

0¢

81

LT

ST

ST

T

€T

T

1T

0T



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

96

whatever the hours were, 24 hours, 36 hours.
Q. Doctor, do you have a curriculum vitae

handy indicating what your qualifications are and

what -- your experiences in vascular surgery?
A My qualifications?
Q. Do you have it written down as Dr. Sawkar

had his written down on Exhibit 1?2 Do you have such
a document handy?

A. I have a CV, yes. | don"t -- | can get
it for you, if you wish.

Q. All right. Could we -- At the conclusion
of the deposition, can we mark i1t as an exhibit so

that we don"t take the time now?

A. Are you asking me i1f you can? Of course
you can.

Q. I "masking if you can just get one --

A. Oh, oh, of course.

Q. .- and we"ll mark it as an exhibit.

A. Sure.

Q. Thank you. You do not do any teaching in

vascular surgery?

A. Not presently. 1 did in Cleveland for
many years.

Q. That"s when you trained some residents at

the VA Hospital?
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A Well, that"s when 1 was the Assistant
Clinical Professor at the VA -- at Case Western
Reserve University, yes.

Q. That means that you -- you have residents
who you assist and train?

A. At the VA as well as at Mount Sinail, yes.

Q. Okay. You have worked with Mr. Bonezzi
as an expert witness iIn the past, have you?

A. Once or twice, yes.

Q. In fact, about 75 percent of your defense

work as an expert witness is for Mr. Bonezzi's Firm,

Jacobson, Maynard & Kalur -- or & Tuschman?
A. That®"s about correct.
Q. You play golf with Mr. Bonezzi?
A I have twice in my life.
Q. His partner, Pat Murphy?
A. I have. He was a neighbor of mine.

That"s the capacity that 1 knew Pat.

Q. Saw him socially?

A l'm sorry?

Q. Saw him socially?

A. Our families lived on the same street,

and we would have block parties and things like that

together.

Q. in Fact, you“ve been represented some
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five times by Mr. Bonezzi's law Ffirm, Jacobson,

Maynard & Tuschman; i1s that true?

A. Represented?

Q. Yes. As -- They were your attorneys?
A. In what situations, please?

Q. In lawsuits where you were named as a

party and they were representing you.

A. Il -- 1 really don"t -- you know, I"ve
never really been settled or sued or anything like
that. 1 mean, -if that"s what you“"re representing.

Q. Well, I'm representing to you, Doctor,
and 1'm only asking you whether or not you have been
represented on five separate occasions by the
Jacobson, Maynard, Tuschman law firm in your
professional capacity as a physician.

A. I -- 1 don"t know the answer to that. If
you want to give me the iInstances and count them up,
that"s fine.

Q. Well, I -- 1 don"t want -- 1 don"t want
to make it look like 1'm being unfair to you, and --
and I'm not trying to do anything other than to
establish that they have represented you on fTive
separate occasions.

MR. BONEZZIl: we'll stipulate that we --

the law firm has, In fact, In the past represented
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Dr. Pitluk.

Q. And do you doubt that it"s five times,
Doctor?

A. I don®"t doubt anything in that respect.

Q. Okay.

A. I don"t know what the implications are,
but - -

Q. There are no implications, Doctor.

A Oh, okay.

MR. HAWAL: Thank you. 1 have nothing

further.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

MR. HEALY: 1 have no questions.

EXAMINATION
BY MR. BONEZZI:

Q. Dr. Pitluk, I have a couple of them for
you.

A. Sure.

Q. The Tirst question that 1 have is this:

Do you believe that any association that you have
had with either me or my law firm in the past or any
associations that you may have had with a partner of
mine, who happened to be one of your neighbors,

would cause you to provide testimony in such a way
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that would be considered untruthful?

A. Mr. Bonezzi, | -- I'm under oath, and
under no circumstances would any relationship | have
with anybody, either adversarial or otherwise, would
I ever allow that to interfere with my testimony.

Q. Isn't it a fact, Dr. Pitluk, that on
occasion you and I have met where you have been a
witness against me?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Very briefly, when tests are conducted
pertaining to determining whether or not there is
any type of abnormality with the vessels of the
lower extremity, is there always a consistent
pattern with the numbers that you receive, for

instance, from an ABI and the complaints from a

patient?
A. No.
Q. And, as a matter of fact, in this case,

as Mr. Hawal pointed out, there may not have been
any specific complaints relative to the confinement
In 1993 regarding the right leg, but there was,
indeed, information obtained relative to that same
right leg when tests were conducted in 1995; is that

correct?

MR. HAWAL: Objection to the form of the
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question.
A. Yes. That is correct.
Q. I'l1l ask 1t a different way, Doctor. To

what extent, 1f at all, do you remove the test
results obtained In 1995 from the Ankle/Brachial
Index and only accept the lack of complaints
relative to the right side as the determining factor
of whether there was, indeed, stenosis or occlusion

on the right side?

A. In --
Q. 1995.
A. I -- As 1 said, you -- you have to take

the history first and foremost, and that"s the most
important factor here in conjunction --

Q. And then to what extent do you attempt to
correlate the history with the test results?

A. I think that"s important to do.

Q. And to what extent, if at all, do you
then exercise a patient relative to a PVR study
where there i1s, indeed, no complaints relative to
one side or the other, but there is definitive
information that suggests otherwise?

A. That®"s very important to do, as was done.

Q. And do the test results in this case

definitively set forth, regardless of complaints,
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regardless of history, that there was i1nvolvement on
the right side iIn 135957
A. Yes, it does.
Q. Would you please take a look at
Exhibit 2A, which 1 believe i1s an exhibit that gas
provided to you by Mr. Hawal? And it expressly sets
forth the radiologist -- | believe that"s
Dr. Irish"s opinion or interpretation. It should be
the very first one.
A. 2A7?
Uh-huh.
Is this 2A?
It"s right there.
Oh.
Right there i1n front.
It"s up here.
Uh-huh.

Sorry.

o P O r O r o r O

All 1 want you to do i1s tell us what date
that was transcribed.

A. Transcribed on 03/01/1995.

Q. And was that the same identical day in
which the iInterpretation was made?

A. No.

Q. And can you tell us whether or not the
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CERTIFICATION
ok ok ok *

BE 1T KNOWN that 1, Sherri K. Williamson, took
the foregoing deposition at the time and place
stated in the caption hereto; that 1 was then and
there a Notary Public In and for the State of
Arizona; that by virtue thereof | was authorized to
administer an oath; that the witness, HOWARD PITLUK,
M.D., before testifying was fTirst duly sworn to
state the truth; that the testimony of said witness
was reduced to writing under my direction; and that
the foregoing 104 pages contain a full, true and
accurate transcription of my notes of said
deposition.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am not of counsel nor
attorney for either or any of the parties to said
cause or otherwise iInterested iIn the event thereof;
and that 1 am not related to either or any of the
parties to saild action.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed
my name and affixed my seal of office this 12th day

A
of September, 1997. : é N
. m/wﬂww ______

R At

NOTARY PUBLIC @ gomm, =~ OFFICAL SEAL 3
; SHERRI X . WILLIAMSON
. o NOTA:Y PUBLIC - ARIZONA

RN IMA COUNTY

4 R My Comm . Expires June 18, 2000

LR Y T PP

My Commission Expires: 6/18/00
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FAIRVIEW GENERAL HOSPITAL RADIOLOGY INTERPRETATION

AINO ,LINDA MAIDEN LAURENTI ROOM 0200 -15
1431 COLUMBIA SQU 104 BIRTH 07/07/1918 AGE 076 Y DAY NO. 090
(ORTH OLMSTED  OH 44070 272-10-7881 00000404595
179-5003

SAWKAR RAGHU MD CETIN DERRICK ¢ Do

20997 LORAIN RD 24700 LORAIN ROAD 207

FAIRVIEW PARK  OH 44126 NORTH OLMSTED OH 44070
156-0044 777-1002

EFT~-ANGIO/EXT-UNILA
;LINICAL: BALLOON ANGIOPLASTY

yIEWS WERE OBTAINED FOLLOWING ANGIOPLASTY, VIEWS OF THE DISTAL SUPERFICIAL
FEMORAL ARTERY SHOW RUPTURE OF THE SUPERFICIAL FEMORAL ARTERY WITH A LARGE
\MOUNT OF CONTRAST MATERIAL EXTENDING ADJACENT TO THE ARTERY A DISTANCE OF
APPROXIMATELY 7 cM. SOME SUBINTIMAL CONTRAST MATERIAL IS ALSO SEEN AS WELL
35 THE FRANKLY EXTRAVASATED CONTRAST. VIEWS OF THE LOWER POPLITEAL ARTERY

sHow A SMALL INTIMAL FLAP.

(XX-XRAY-FLUORO FEE
SEE LEFT ANGIO.

CRAIG R. IRISH, M.D.

IXAMINATION COMPLETED ON 02/27/1995
READ BY CRAIG R. IRISH, M.D. ON 02/28/1995 AT 0220P

TRANSCRIBED BY CC ON 03/01/1995 0124P MAILED ON 03/01/95
R A e Y Y222 12222 222

XRAY REPORT FINAL DOCUMENT
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EXHIBIT
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ALL-STATE LEGAL SUPPLY CO. |
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" PATIENT : PAINO, LINDA I_ = A I"""I I CLEVELAND
272-10-7881 = -

MR NO.:
PROVIDING A CIRCLE OF CARE
DATE OF PROC.: 02/28/95

ROOM NO. = 200-5 FAIRVIEW GENERAL HOSPITAL
Cleveland, Ohio 44111-5659

HOSP. SvC.: SEM

PREOPERATIVE DIAGNOSIS: PLAINTIFF’S

EXHIBIT
POSTOPERATIVE DIAGNOSIS:

ALL-STATE LEGAL SUPPLY CO.

OPERATION :

SURGEON: R. Sawkar, M.D.
ASSISTANTS: P. Siebert, ¥.D.

ANESTHESIA: Spinal.

This patient underwent balloon angioplasty a couple of hours ago. She had a strong
pulse, gradually pulse diminished and almost disappeared. The patient is having
numbness in the foot. 1 was notified from the recovery room and hence we decided to
take the patient back for exploration. The problem was discussed with the patient and
her family including that she may need thrombectomy and fampop bypass as well as
peroneal bypass, if we cannot salvage the artery and re-ballooning was considered also.
The risks of the procedure, inability to revascularize leading on to amputation was £
briefly mentioned. The patient was taken to surgery.

PROCEDURE: After adequate prep and draping, under spinal anesthesia, the left groin
was explored and it was found that the proximal femoral artery was opened with
intraoperative arteriography. (Pleasenote, the surgeonwas Dr. Sawkar assistant to Dr.
Siebert). Upon doing an arteriography, found that superficial femoral in the mid thigh
was totally occluded. There was no flow below that noted. We tried to pass a Fogarty
catheter after heparinizing the patient. We got a moderate amount of clot. Fogarty
would not pass beyond the middle of the thigh. Hence, we decided to explore the
popliteal artery. First we explored the popliteal artery above the knee, found the
artery was extremely diseased. No true lumen was available here to do any distal
anastomosis. Below the knee popliteal artery was explored, even here it was completely
collapsed with no true lumen noted even in this area with thrombus seen, which was
removed. We could not get any soft spot to put a graft here. Then we extended the
incision to the tibial peroneal trunk area beyond the trifurcation, found what looked
like a reasonable soft artery at this level and gentle fogarty was introduced distally.
A small amount of clot was removed. Very little backflow was obtained. Meanwhile we
harvested the saphenous vein and we were trying to inside to bypass, but when we opened
the vein for the proximal anastomosis to the common femoral and superficial junction,
we found that the vein had thrombosed and was phlebitic and there was no real good
lumen noted. Hence we decided not to use saphenous vein as this was thrombophlebitic
and moderate degree of varicosities were noted and no true lumen was identified. In
the other leg the patient had superficial thrombophlebitis and deep vein rombosis.
A few months ago it was treated with anticoagulation, saphenous vein is not’ available
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in that leg for this purpose. Hence, we had no other choice other than to use 6 and
1/2 to 4 and 1/5 Gore tex graft was used. First it was anastomosed to the superficial
and common femoral junction with running 6-0 Gore tex suture. After watertight
closure, inflow was obtained to the graft, which was pretty good. After that it was
tunneled through anatomic tunnel and brought in the tibial peroneal trunk area and it
was anastomosed end-to-side with 6-0 Prolene suture as the tibial peroneal trunk
anastomosis was carried out. Heparin was instilled distally. We encountered a moderate
amount of bleeding. All bleeding was controlled and completion angio. showed patency
of the anastomosis, however, distal flow was somewhat poor because the quality of the
artery, peroneal, was not good, thickened lumen was very small, runoff was of poor
quality. However, at the end of the procedure the patient had weakly dopplerable
posterior tibial pulse, was not very happy with the quality of this artery as well as
how she thrombosed the whole arterial system from the mid thigh to the trifurcation,
including the tibial peroneal trunk. Prognosis is poor as limb salvage may not be
possible because of her poor outflow as well als non-availability of the saphenous vein

and extremely diseased femoral popliteal and tibial arterial system. This was
discussed with the patient's daughter and also the patient was notified in the
Intensive care unit. IFf the graft does not stay open, the patient probably will loose

the limb. The patient has severe arthritis in the left knee, BK amputation is not
feasible because of the arthritis, may not be a candidate for prosthesis. So most
probably ahe will need an AX amputation if the graft does not support the circulation
to the leg. This was notified to the patient's two daughters as well as the patient.

Dictated by: R. Sawkar, M.D./ff

D: 02/28/95
T: 02/28/95
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PATIENT: PAINO, LINDA

I_ ) - ‘l l CLEVELAND
MR NO.: 01030925 s
PROVIDING A CIRCLE OF CARE
PHYSICIAN: B. DROUBI, M.D.
DATE OF ADM.: 02/27/95 PLAINTIFF’S
DATE OF DIS.: 05/02/95 FAIRVIEW GENERAL HOSPITAL EXHIBIT
tleveland, Ohio 44111-5659 Q)
HOSP. SVC.: SRG ALLSTATE LEGAL Sompy G0

FINAL DIAGNOSES: Left femoropopliteal stenosis, with <failed angioplasty,
revascularization with Gore-Tex graft, revascularization with femorotibial reverse

saphenous vein graft, and prolonged-pestoperative care of nzcrotic left leg and thigh
incisions.

HISTORY AND HOSPITAL COURSE: This patient was admitted under the care of Dr. R. Sawkar
for revascularization using balloon angioplasty of the left leg femoropopliteal artery.
The patient post-angioplasty thrombosed her femoropopliteal artery, and attempted
revascularization by br. Sawkar using Gore~Tex graft ended with thrombosis of the
graft. The leg became markedly ischemic, with foot drop and ischemic necrosis of the
skin edges of the incisions, and also of the calf muscles. I was called to evaluate
the patient on 03/01/95 at 03:30 p.m. because the patient refused the decision of
Dr. Sawkar to perform above knee amputation. The family called me in as a second
opinion for attempt at revascularization.

When the patient was seen in the Intenzive Care Unit, she was in severe pain of the
left leg and foot, with foot drop and inability to have dorsiflexion of the ankle.
There was extensive cutaneous nscrosis OF the medial calf and thigh incisions.

At this point, we had a conference with the patient and the family regarding the
options of treatment. I did agree initially Tor the amputation; however, 1 had
discussed with them that I may attempt to re-explore the tibial arteries and evaluate
the possibility of revascularization IF the tibial artery appeared to be patent. If
the artery was not patent and thrombosed, then above knee amputation would be carriead
out. The patient was taken to the operating room the same day, where exploration of
the tibial artery was done. Doing arteriogram intraoperatively revealed a patent
posterior tibial artery to the ankle. At this point, the family was then contacted
from the operating room and informed that the functional capacity of the leg was
extremely limited due to the presence of the foot drop and the muscle necrosis, and
were told that her full functional capacity may not be recovered in spite of the
revascularization. The family and the patient were adamant about the attempt to
revascularize even in the absence of functional leg to preserve the leg if we could.
For that reason, harvesting of the right leg saphenous vein was done, and
revascularization of the leg was done using a emo oral-posterior tibial bypass graft,
Postoperatively the patient had a prolonged postoperative course. Her perfusion of the
lower extremity markedly improved, with a palpable pulse in the posterior tibial
artery. However, the complication which occurred was that of necrosis of the incision
and muscle that had occurred preoperatively Trom the severe ischemia for 48 hours.
This required multiple explorations and debridements, and at that point I called for
the help of Dr. T. ¢hazoul, a plastic surgeon, IN order to achieve coverage of the
exposed graft that occurred following the freguent debridements of the gastrocnemius
necrotic muscle fibers and the soleus muscle fibers. with repsated debridements and
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PATIENT: PAINO, LINDA . - CLEVELAND
H H

MR NO.: 01030925

PHYSICIAN: B. DROUBI, M.D. PROVIDING A CIRCLE OF CARE

DATE OF ADH.: 02/27/95

DATE OF DIS.: 05/02/95 FAIRVIEW GENERAL HOSPITAL
Cleveland, Ohio 44111-5659

HOSP. SVC.: SRG

coverage, eventually the patient had only a sinus opening, which was treated
aggressively with local care. The patient was then transferred to the extended care

facility.

Rehabilitation started with Physical Therapy evaluation and aggressive treatment. Near
the discharge date, the patient was doing fairly well. She had no symptoms of pain in
the left foot and ankle, although her functional ability was markedly limited. Her
incisions and skin grafts were showing marked healing and improvement, and at this
point the patient was transferred to the nursing home to continue her physical therapy
and to follow in the office with me and with Dr. Ghazoul.

Dictated by: B. DROUBI, K.D./KC
D: 10/10/95
T: 10/24/95 12:36
cc: R. SAWKAR, H.D.
p. CETIN, D.O.
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CURRICULUM VITAE

ALL-STATE LEGAL SUPPLY CO.

HOWARD C. PITLUK, M.D.. F.A.C.S.

Office: 1925 W. Orange Grove Rd., Ste. 100-101 (520) 742-8944
Tucson, AZ 85704

Home: 5931 E. Finisterra Dr. (520) 529-9234
Tucson, AZ 85750

DATE AND PLACE OF BIRTH

November 19, 1949 Cleveland, Ohio
EDUCATION
High School: Cleveland Heights High School 1967
Undergraduate: Northwestern University - B.A. 1971
Medical School: Ohio State University College of Medicine - M.D. 1974
Residency: Northwestern University Hospitals - General and
Vascular Surgery 1974-1979
PERSONAL
Married: Sharon Kagan Pitluk

Ohio State University - B.A., Elementary Education - 1971
John Caroll University - M.A., Guidance and Counseling - 1991

Children: Adam Seth - born August 18, 1976
Jessica Danielle - born May 28, 1979

AWARDS

Dean's List - three of four years - Northwestern University,

Evanston, lllinois
Letter of Commendation - Ohio State University, Department

of Medicine 1973
Annual Surgical Award - Northwestern University
Medical School 1979

CHAPTERS AND VIDEO PRODUCTIONS

1. "Fern-Pop Bypass with Gore-Tex Suture and Graft" for w. L. Gore and
Associates, 1984 (Video).
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"Carotid Endarterectomy with Gore-Tex Patch Angioplasty" for W. L. Gore and
Associates, 1989 (Video).

Hemodynamic and Respiratory Monitoring, The Handbook of Critical Care, co-
author J. E. Sampliner, M.D., 2nd Edition.

General Care of the Critically !l Patient, The Handbook of Critical Care, co-
authors, J. E. Sampliner, M.D., R. E. Sampliner, M.D., 3rd Edition, 1990, Little-

Brown & Co.

REFERRED JOURNAL ARTICLES

Pitluk, H. C.: Constrictive Pericarditis. Iil. St. Med. J. 155:165; 1979.
Pitluk, H. C.: Hemangioperlcytoma. Am. J. Surg. 137:413-16; 1979.
Pitluk, H. C.: Acute Cholecystitis with Choledocholithiasis. Proc. instit. Med.
Chicago 32:105; 1979.

Pitluk, H. C.: Choledocholithiasis Associated with Acute Cholecystitis. Arch.
Surg. 14:887-889; 1979.

Pitiuk, H. C.: Intra-Abdominal Mesenteric Desmoid Tumors. Am. Surg.
48:316-319; 1882.

Pitluk, H. C.: Carcinoma of the Colon in People Under 40 Years Old. SGO
157:335-339; 1983.

Pitiuk, H. C., Rubin, J. R, King, T. A., Hutton, M., Kieger, E. F., Plecha, F. R,
Hertzer, N. R.: Carotid Endarterectomy in a Metropolitan Community: The
Early Results After 8,535 Operations. J. Vasc. Surg. 7:256-260; 1988.
Pitluk, H. C., Rubin, J. R.: Do Operative Results Justify Tibial Artery
Reconstruction inthe Presence of Pedal Sepsis? Am. J. Surg. 156:144; 1988.
Pitluk, H. C.: Spontaneous Hepatic Rupture Associated with Peliosis Hepatitis.
Submitted.

Pitluk, H. C., Plecha, E. J., Rubin, J. R., King, T. A.: Risk Assessment for
Patients Undergoing Carotid Endarterectomy. Accepted J. Cardiovasc. Surg.;
1991.

Pitluk, H. C., Aldrich, R., LoPresti, C., Fumich, M., O'Brien, W.:
Pseudoaneurysm Complicating Knee Arthroscopy. Arthroscopy: The Journal
of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery. April 1995.

MEDICAL LICENSURES

Ohio No. 97637 June 1974
California No. C37963 August 1978

Arizona No. 23149 May 1995
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SPECIALTY CERTIFICATION

Laser Centers of America
Applications of Lasers in General Surgery -- June 1989
Applications of Lasers in Physics, Tissue and Safety -- May 1989
Operative Laparoscopyand Laser LaparoscopicCholecystectomy -- April 1990

Board Certification
American Board of Surgery - Certificate No. 28250 -- November 1982

American Board of Surgery - Recertified -- October 1992

SERVICETO THE UNIVERSITY

Emergency Room Committee, Northwestern University Medical
Center, Chicago, lllinois 1976
Clinical Instructor, Department of SurgerY, Northwestern University
Medical Center 1979
Clinical !nstructor, Department of Surgery, Case Western
1980-1990

Reserve University

Assistant Clinical Professor, Department of Surgery, Case Western

Reserve University 1991-present

MEMBERSHIPS AND OFFICES IN PROFESSIONAL SOCIETIES

Academy of Medicine of Clevelgnd--------smmmsmm e e 1979
Diplomat of The American Board of Surgery---=-=-=smmmmm oo 1982
The Cleveland Surgical SOCi@ty==mmmmrmmm oo 1983
FellowofThe AmericanCollege 0f SUrgeons - ----m oo e 1984
The Society for Clinical Vascular Surgery=-=====smsmm ool 1984

Membership Committee (1987), Membership Committee (1990},
Chairman Bylaws Committee (1991}, Member at Large {1993),
Executive Committee (1981-present)

The Cleveland Vascular SOCITy=-smmmmmmm s e 1984
Program Chairman (1985-1986), Program Chairman (1989-1980),
Treasurer {19817), Secretary (1990), President (1993-1994)

Midwestern Vascular Surgical SOCI Ty -==r=mmmmmmmmm oot 1994
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PRESENTATIONS

Co-Presentation -- Carotid Endarterectomy in a Metropolitan Community: The Early
Results After 8,535 Operations. The Society for Vascular Surgery, Torontc, Canada,

June 1987.

Co-Presentation -- Femoral-Tibial Bypass for Limb Salvage. The Society for Clinical
Vascular Surgery, Maui, Hawaii, April 1988.

INVITED PRESENTATIONS

Presentation -- Raynaud's Disease. Channel 5 Morning Exchange Television
Appearance, 1987.

Presentation -- Acute Appendicitis. Channel 5 Morning Exchange Television
Appearance, 1988.

Presentation -- Carotid Endarterectomy. "Medical Tomorrow" Channel 8 Morning
News Television Appearance, 1990.

Presentation -- Cooper Vapor Laser Sclerotherapy. "Medical Tomorrow"™ Channel 8
Morning News Television Appearance, 1990.

Presentation -- Carotid Surgery and the Prevention of Stroke. Medical Update WCLV
Radio, 1990.
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